No. 47439-5-II

---

COURT OF APPEALS  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON  
DIVISION II

---

HOFFMAN, LARRY AND JUDITH, husband and wife,

Plaintiffs-Appellants,

v.

ALASKA COPPER COMPANIES, INC., et al.,

Defendant-Respondents.

---

**BRIEF OF APPELLANTS  
LARRY AND JUDITH HOFFMAN**

---

John W. Phillips, WSBA #12185  
Michael Madderra, WSBA #48169  
Phillips Law Group, PLLC  
315 Fifth Avenue South, Suite 1000  
Seattle, WA 98104  
(206) 382-6163

Counsel for Plaintiffs-Appellants

**

## I. INTRODUCTION

The Superior Court dismissed Larry and Judith Hoffman's suit against General Electric ("GE") and Ketchikan Pulp Company ("KPC"), by concluding that Alaska's Statute of Repose applies to the Hoffmans' claims and that their suit was barred by that statute. This Court should correct the Superior Court's legal errors and remand for trial.

Neither the Washington nor Alaska statutes of repose bars the Hoffmans' claims, and thus no actual conflict of law exists that would require a Washington court to choose between the two statutes. The Superior Court's ruling that the Alaska Statute of Repose bars the Hoffmans' suit would foreclose most personal injury suits based on asbestos exposure under Alaska law. Nowhere in the language or legislative history of Alaska's Statute of Repose is there even a hint of such a stark proposition.

If the Court were to conclude that a conflict of law exists and that the Alaska Statute of Repose would bar the Hoffmans' claims, the Court should, under Washington choice of law principles, apply Washington law to the Hoffmans' claims as they are Washington



residents suing at least one Washington defendant, and it is an unacceptable policy to Washington courts that asbestos victims be deprived of a remedy altogether.

## **II. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR**

1. Did the Pierce County Superior Court err in ruling that the Washington and Alaska Statutes of Repose Conflict?

2. If the Alaska Statute of Repose conflicts with the Washington Statute of Repose, should the Court, under Choice of Law Principles, apply Washington's Statute of Repose to the asbestos personal injury claims of a Washington resident against two defendants, one of whom is also a Washington resident?

## **III. STATEMENT OF CASE**

### **A. Procedural History**

On December 16, 2014, Larry Hoffman and Judith Hoffman filed their Second Amended Complaint ("Complaint") against GE KPC and other defendants. CP 13-18. The Hoffmans are Washington residents. CP 347-48. KPC was incorporated in Washington and remained a Washington corporation during the period it operated the Ketchikan mill and Larry Hoffman was exposed to asbestos. *See* Wash. Sec. of State, Corp. Div.,

*Registration Data Search, available at*

[https://www.sos.wa.gov/corps/search\\_detail.aspx?ubi=601111573](https://www.sos.wa.gov/corps/search_detail.aspx?ubi=601111573).

GE is a New York corporation with a principal place of business in Fairfield, Connecticut. CP 20.

On March 13, 2015, the Superior Court ruled that a conflict of laws exists between the states of Alaska and Washington, and determined that Alaska law applies to the Hoffmans' claims. CP 1535. The Order did not identify the specific conflict of law or which Alaska law applies in light of the conflict. *Id.* On March 25, 2015, however, the Superior Court entered an Order granting GE's and KPC's motions to dismiss under Alaska's Statute of Repose. CP 2912-13. Taking the March 13, and March 25 orders together, the Superior Court concluded that the Washington and Alaska statutes of repose conflict, and under choice of law principles, applied the Alaska Statute of Repose to dismiss the Hoffmans' claims.

Plaintiffs filed their Notice of Appeal on April 9, 2015 (CP 2914-24), and on June 3, 2015, the Superior Court entered a CR 54(b) final judgment as to GE and KPC. CP 2936-38.

## **B. Factual Background**

Larry and Judith Hoffman are Washington residents. While living in Washington, Larry was diagnosed with malignant pleural mesothelioma on December 19, 2013. Declaration of John W. Phillips in Support of Appellants' Motion for Expedited Appeal (June 10, 2015) at Ex. A (May 28, 2015 Declaration of Dr. Andrew Tzong-Yow Chen, D.O.).

Larry Hoffman's father, Doyle Hoffman, worked as a welder and pipefitter at the KPC Mill from its opening in 1954 until 1966. CP 200-01, 349-50. Doyle was exposed to substantial asbestos while working at the KPC Mill. *See* CP 1162-63. As a welder, Doyle Hoffman was present when asbestos blankets were removed from GE turbines as they were opened for repairs. CP 1162. During mill shutdowns, GE brought their own personnel to work on the General Electric turbines at the Ketchikan Pulp Mill, and Doyle worked around those turbines during mill shutdowns and emergency repairs. CP 1162. The removal and installation of the asbestos blankets on the GE turbines created a tremendous amount of dust. CP 1162. Ketchikan Pulp Mill workers, including welders, staged

the worksite, ferried materials, and swept up after the work was performed by the GE. CP 1162. Sweeping up the areas near the GE turbines during the shutdowns created a tremendous amount of dust. CP 1162.

In addition to his asbestos exposure from the GE turbines and their asbestos-containing components, Doyle was exposed to asbestos from his work on steam piping at the Ketchikan Pulp Mill. *See* CP 1162. Welders such as Doyle removed insulation on steam piping to get to valves, steam traps, and other worksites. CP 1162. All steam piping in the mill was insulated with asbestos, and steam traps were located throughout the Ketchikan Pulp Mill. CP 1162.

Unwittingly, Doyle Hoffman carried asbestos fibers home on his clothing, and exposed his son, Larry, to those deadly fibers. *See* CP 1162-63; 201-02. Doyle Hoffman came home in the clothing he wore to work, he would play with Larry, and then sit on the family couch — still dressed in his asbestos-laden work clothing. CP 201-02. Doyle Hoffman wore his work clothing when he drove the family car to and from work each day, the same car used by the family on weekends. CP 201. Each and every exposure to asbestos

that is above background level increases the risk of developing mesothelioma. CP 311-12.

Larry Hoffman graduated from Ketchikan High School in 1966, and then served two years in the United States Army. CP 350-51. After his service, from December 1968 through January 1970 Larry Hoffman worked for the KPC Mill as a yard crew member. CP 214-15. The yard crew, including Mr. Hoffman, was responsible for mill cleanup. CP 214. Mr. Hoffman cleaned the mill powerhouse once a week and on two two-week long occasions, Mr. Hoffman was responsible for cleanup throughout the entire mill. CP 216-18. Two GE turbines were in the powerhouse. CP 221. Mr. Hoffman was responsible for cleanup wherever the work was done—the powerhouse, the finishing room, around the turbines—wherever workers made a mess. CP 217-18, 225. Around the turbines, Mr. Hoffman cleaned, swept, and hauled away waste. *See* CP 225. Inevitably, Mr. Hoffman inhaled some asbestos dust from the turbine maintenance when he cleaned up waste on the shop floor.

Larry Hoffman also worked periodically at the Ketchikan and Sitka Pulp Mills from 1974 to approximately 1978. CP 223. During

that time, the Sitka Pulp Mill had two GE turbines, *see* CP 226 & 2236, and Mr. Hoffman worked in the room housing those turbines. CP 203. While on the job, Mr. Hoffman was exposed to significant concentrations of airborne asbestos from asbestos products in and around those turbines. CP 299.

The Hoffmans will demonstrate through fact and expert testimony that the GE turbines that Larry Hoffman worked around at the KPC and Sitka Mills contained asbestos-containing components, including thermal insulation, gaskets, and packing. *See e.g.*, CP 1252, 1254. GE sold gaskets to the Sitka and Ketchikan mills during Larry Hoffman's tenure there. *See* CP 1175, 1177, 1179-80. When maintenance was performed on the turbines, the insulation materials wrapping the turbines was disturbed. CP 1251-52. The turbines contained asbestos-containing components, and Mr. Hoffman was exposed to airborne asbestos from the turbines both from his cleanup duties and from direct exposure working near the turbines when they were undergoing maintenance. *See* CP 299.

The Hoffmans claim that KPC negligently operated and controlled the premises where Doyle Hoffman worked, including

negligent management and maintenance of defective asbestos products, which resulted in Doyle unwittingly carrying asbestos waste fibers home on his clothing where he exposed his son, Larry. CP 1254.

The Hoffmans' claims against GE are based on GE's negligent maintenance and supervision of turbines at the Sitka and KPC mills, defective product negligence claims associated with the original asbestos gaskets and packings at the KPC mill, and the sale of defective asbestos gaskets to the Sitka and Ketchikan mills, which were used in the maintenance of GE turbines, none of which were sold with warnings. GE's negligence caused Larry Hoffman to be exposed to asbestos fibers when his father Doyle Hoffman carried asbestos fibers home on his clothing and when Larry swept up asbestos dust at the Sitka and Ketchikan pulp mills, where GE sold gaskets and maintained the turbines. CP 13-18.

#### **IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

To prove that an actual conflict exists, KPC and GE must demonstrate that application of the Washington and Alaska statutes of repose would produce different results for the Hoffmans' claims.

They cannot demonstrate an actual conflict because both statutes preserve the Hoffmans' claims. All parties agree that the Washington Statute of Repose does not bar the Hoffmans' claims, and multiple provisions of the Alaska Statute of Repose also preserve their claims. To rule otherwise would abolish most asbestos personal injury claims from the face of Alaska law. The Alaska Legislature has never even hinted that it sought to wipe out most asbestos personal injury claims, and the Alaska Supreme Court continues to support the validity of asbestos personal injury claims, governed by the discovery rule. The Court should reject such a stark, and unconstitutional, construction of the Alaska Statute of Repose.

Finally, even if KPC and GE were to demonstrate that the Alaska Statute of Repose bars the Hoffmans' claims, this Court, applying Washington Choice of Law principles, should apply Washington law to the claims of Washington residents against at least one Washington defendant, to ensure that this State – which bears the burdens of Mr. Hoffman's disease – provides them a means of recovering from those who caused his injury.



## V. ARGUMENT

### A. The Court Reviews *de novo* the March 13, 2015, Choice of Law Order and the March 25, 2015 Rule 12(b)(6) Dismissal Order.

This Court reviews *de novo* the Superior Court's decision to apply the Alaska Statute of Repose. *McKee v. AT & T Corp.*, 164 Wn.2d 372, 384, 191 P.3d 845 (2008) (citing *Erwin v. Cotter Health Ctrs.*, 161 Wn.2d 676, 690-91, 167 P.3d 1112 (2007)). This Court also "applies the *de novo* standard of review to a trial court's decision to dismiss pursuant to CR 12(b)(6)." *FutureSelect Portfolio Mgmt., Inc. v. Tremont Group Holdings, Inc.*, 175 Wn. App. 840, 865, 309 P.3d 555 (Div. I 2013) (citation omitted). The Hoffmans' factual allegations are presumed true, and the Court may consider hypothetical facts that support their claims. *Kinney v. Cook*, 159 Wn.2d 837, 842, 154 P.3d 206 (2007) (citation omitted).

### B. The Washington and Alaska Statutes of Repose Do Not Conflict.

Unless a conflict of laws actually exists, Washington courts presumptively apply the law of the forum, here Washington law, to a claim filed in a Washington court by Washington residents, such as the Hoffmans. *See Rice v. Dow Chem. Co.*, 124 Wn.2d 205, 210, 875 P.2d 1213 (1994) (citing *Burnside v. Simpson Paper Co.*, 123

Wn.2d 93, 100-01, 864 P.2d 937 (1994)). A mere difference in laws does not establish a conflict. The competing state laws must present an “actual conflict,” *Erwin v. Cotter Health Ctrs.*, 161 Wn.2d 676, 692, 167 P.3d 1112 (2007) (quoting *Seizer v. Sessions*, 132 Wn.2d 642, 648, 940 P.2d 261 (1997)). An actual conflict requires that “the *result* of the issues is different under the law of the two states.” *Seizer*, 132 Wn.2d at 648-49 (citation omitted) (emphasis added); *see also Erwin*, 161 Wn.2d at 692 (citation omitted). If the laws are different but do not produce a different “result,” the difference is a “false conflict” and presumptively the court applies forum law. *Erwin*, 161 Wn.2d at 692 (citation omitted). As detailed below, the Washington and Alaska statutes of repose do not conflict because they do not produce a different “result.” Both laws preserve the Hoffmans’ claims. Thus, the Washington Statute of Repose presumptively applies to the Hoffmans’ claims, and does not bar them, which requires reversal.

**1. The Washington Statute of Repose Preserves the Hoffmans’ Claims.**

The Washington Statute of Repose, RCW 4.16.310, protects builders, design and engineering professionals from suits filed more

than six years after improvements to real property are substantially complete. The statute has been narrowly construed to apply only to builders and associated professionals. *See Jones v. Weyerhaeuser Co.*, 48 Wn. App. 894, 899, 741 P.2d 75 (Div. II 1987) (describing the statute as a “builder-limitation” statute and discussing the purpose of such statute). Both GE and KPC conceded in the Superior Court that the Washington Statute of Repose does not affect the Hoffmans’ claims. *See* CP 1040-41 (“Washington has a six-year statute of repose that applies to actions or claims arising from construction, alteration, repair, design, planning, survey, engineering, etc. of improvements upon real property.”); CP 1033 (“The Washington statute is narrowly tailored in terms of who may benefit from its protections.”).

## **2. The Alaska Statute of Repose Preserves the Hoffmans’ Claims.**

The Hoffmans’ claims also are plainly preserved under a number of the provisions in the Alaska Statute of Repose. Accordingly, there is no “actual conflict” between the Washington and Alaska statutes of repose. The Alaska statute is structured expressly to protect claims that are hidden or are latent for long

periods of time. For example, the Alaska repose statute does not apply to personal injury claims that result from “prolonged exposure to hazardous waste.” AS 09.10.055(b)(1)(A). The use of the term “prolonged” signals the legislature’s intent to preserve claims for latent injury from toxic exposures that do not manifest as disease for decades. The statute preserves claims based on the presence of an “undiscovered presence of a foreign body.” AS 09.10.055(c). The statute preserves claims where the defendant “intentionally conceal[s]” the facts that would give notice of a claim. AS 09.10.055(b)(2). The statute also preserves personal injury claims based on fraud or misrepresentation, which might prevent a plaintiff from understanding that they have a claim (AS 09.10.055(b)(1)(C)), and it preserves claims where the facts that would constitute accrual of a cause of action of a minor are not discoverable in the exercise of reasonable care by the minor’s guardians (AS 09.10.055(b)(5)).

By concluding that the Hoffmans’ asbestos personal injury claims are barred by the Alaska Statute of Repose, the Superior Court in effect concluded that the 1997 Alaska law abolished most asbestos personal injury claims from Alaska substantive law. As

Justice Madsen observed in dissent in *Kilpatrick v. Dept. of Labor & Industries*, 125 Wn.2d 222, 234, 883 P.2d 1370 (1995), “[i]t is common knowledge that physical manifestation of asbestos-related disease can take years. . . . The latency period between the first asbestos exposure and the appearance of lung cancer is generally 15 years or more; however, it is not unusual for a 30- to 35-year lag before the onset of this disease.” (citation omitted). Thus, if the Alaska Statute of Repose did not preserve the Hoffmans’ claims, as the Superior Court concluded, then most asbestos-related personal injuries would be barred under Alaska law, because such injuries do not manifest in 10 years. Yet the legislative history of the 1997 amendment to the Alaska Statute of Repose contains no hint that the Legislature intended to eliminate asbestos-related personal injury claims as a category.

Given the numerous ways in which the Alaska repose statute preserves concealed or latent personal injury claims, the notion that most asbestos personal injury claims were abolished under the statute is completely inconsistent with the tenor of the law. And since passage of the 1997 amendment to the Alaska Statute of

Repose, the Alaska Supreme Court has continued to acknowledge the existence of asbestos-related personal injury claims under Alaska law. For example, in *Sopko v. Dowell Schulmberger, Inc.*, 21 P.3d 1265 (Alaska 2001), written four years after the 1997 amendment to the Alaska Statute of Repose, the Alaska Supreme Court acknowledged the continued vitality of the “discovery rule” in toxic tort cases, using asbestos-related personal injury claims as the paradigmatic exemplar:

In toxic tort cases, such as cases where the plaintiff contracts silicosis or asbestosis from exposure to silicate dust or asbestos fibers, under the discovery rule the statute of limitations will generally not start running until the plaintiff’s disease manifests itself in an illness. In such cases, the plaintiff initially does not have any symptoms of injury, and therefore has insufficient information to prompt an inquiry into his cause of action.

*Sopko*, 21 P.3d at 1271.

As detailed below, multiple provisions of the Alaska Statute of Repose specifically apply to and preserve the Hoffmans’ claims against KPC and GE.

**a. The Alaska Statute of Repose Preserves the Hoffmans' Claims Because Mr. Hoffman's Personal Injury Resulted From Prolonged Exposure to Hazardous Waste.**

The Alaska Statute of Repose preserves claims based on “prolonged exposure to hazardous waste.” While the statute does not define “hazardous waste,” it is apparent that the Legislature used the term broadly to refer to a category of harm that relates to Larry Hoffman’s injuries from handling hazardous asbestos waste. The sponsor of the bill, Representative Porter, explained that he could not think of a reason to distinguish hazardous “waste” from hazardous “material” under the new law. Appendix A (Minutes, H. Jud. Comm. Hearing on S.S.H.B. 58, 20th Leg. 1st Sess. (Feb. 21, 1997), No. 1184). Representative Porter also responded to a question about what “hazardous waste” means, by stating “[i]t was an attempt to address another concern that was raised of the more typical kinds of ‘someone’s property leached chemicals into my property, and I don’t know about it,’ those kinds of things.” *Id.* at No. 1132. Representative Porter’s reference to leaching of chemicals into groundwater indicates that the Legislature did not intend a restrictive meaning for “waste,” as the chemical release into

soils and groundwater technically is not “waste” disposal, but the release of a hazardous substance into the environment the remediation of which is addressed by the federal CERCLA and counterpart state laws.

The only logical reading of AS 09.10.055’s preservation of claims for injuries resulting from “prolonged exposure to hazardous waste” is that it protects Larry Hoffman’s claim for personal injury caused by his “prolonged exposure to” hazardous asbestos dust that he collected on the floors of the Ketchikan and Sitka mills after being released from asbestos containing products.

Asbestos dust is treated as a “hazardous substance” and “hazardous waste” under the law. “Hazardous substance” is defined in section 101(14), 42 U.S.C. § 9601(14). That section, in turn, incorporates contaminants under both the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. § 1317, and the Clean Air Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7412. Asbestos is classified as a “toxic pollutant” under the Clean Water Act and a “hazardous air pollutant” under the Clean Air Act. 33 U.S.C. § 1317; 42 U.S.C. § 7412; *see* 40 C.F.R. Part 122, App. D, Table V (1987); 40 C.F.R. § 401.15 (1987); 40 C.F.R. Part 61, Subpart M (1987).



Asbestos is also designated as a “hazardous substance” for purposes of sections 102 (authorizing Administrator to designate hazardous substances) and 105 (providing for the national contingency plan) of CERCLA. *See* 40 C.F.R. § 302.4, Table 302.4 (1987). The EPA’s National Emission Standard for Hazardous Air Pollutants (“NESHAP”) includes the National Emission Standard for Asbestos, currently 40 C.F.R. 61. NESHAP expressly includes “materials contaminated with asbestos . . . including . . . clothing” as “asbestos-containing waste materials.” 40 C.F.R. § 61.141.

In *Metal Trades, Inc. v. United States*, 810 F. Supp. 689 (D. S.C. 1992), the court explained that asbestos also is a “hazardous waste” under RCRA, the federal hazardous waste disposal statute:

[T]he term hazardous waste as defined by the actual legislation is sensible and clearly embraces waste asbestos as hazardous waste. 42 U.S.C. § 6903 defines “hazardous waste” as follows:

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