NO. 47439-5-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

FILED  
COURT OF APPEALS  
DIVISION II  
2015 AUG 31 PM 3:21  
STATE OF WASHINGTON  
BY DEPUTY

---

LARRY AND JUDITH HOFFMAN,

Plaintiffs and Appellants,

v.

ALASKA COPPER COMPANIES, INC., ET AL.,,

Defendants and Respondents.

---

**RESPONDENT'S BRIEF OF DEFENDANT  
GENERAL ELECTRIC COMPANY**

---

On Appeal from the Superior Court  
for the State of Washington,  
County of Pierce, Case No. 14-2-07178-2, Hon. K.A. Van  
Dooninck, Presiding

Christopher S. Marks, WSBA  
#28634  
Megan M. Coluccio, WSBA  
#44178  
SEDGWICK LLP  
520 Pike Tower, Ste. 2200  
Seattle, WA 98101

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

turbines were assembled on-site in a process which took thousands of worker-hours. CP 255. The turbines generated all the power used by the mills, and were necessary for the mills to operate. CP 71. Accordingly, the turbines were not "products" within the scope of the plain language of the exception.

## 2) **The Legislative History of the Product Exception**

The legislative history also shows that the GE turbines are not "products" within the meaning of the statute of repose.

The Alaska legislature expressed its concern for manufacturers of improvements to real property in a 1994 amendment to Section 09.10.055:

(3) unlike manufactured products, the useful life of an improvement to real property can be hundreds of years; the availability of relevant evidence and witnesses . . . can be especially acute in suits involving improvements to real property because of this potential for long life . . . for these reasons, the burden of maintaining appropriate records and other documentation beyond a certain reasonable period of time may be excessive or even impossible.

1994 Alaska Laws Ch. 28 (H.B. 160); Appendix at 29.

The legislature's concerns are reflected in the undisputed facts here. The GE turbines were built at the Ketchikan and Sitka mills in the 1950s and operated for decades. Both mills have long since closed. CP 1248, 2566, 2783. The Ketchikan mill has only one employee remaining and almost no documents from the relevant period. CP 2066, 2072-73,

2076. None of the parties were able to find workers from the Sitka mill during the relevant period. CP 374. Of the two co-workers identified for Ketchikan, one was already deceased. CP 637. The parties have been unable, decades later, to locate documentary or testimonial evidence regarding the nature of the work performed, the identity of the workers or the manufacturer or supplier of materials at either mill. CP 2066, 2072-73, 2076. The Alaska statute of repose was designed to protect manufacturers from lawsuits under circumstances like this.

Rep. Porter narrowed the original scope of the product exception early in the legislative process. As introduced, the exception read:

(b) This section does not apply if

(1) The personal injury, death, or property damage resulted from . . .

(E) a defective product; in this subparagraph, "product" means an object that has intrinsic value, is capable of delivery as an assembled whole or as a component part, and is introduced into trade or commerce; "product" includes an element or compound that if ingested by humans or if humans are exposed to, or are in contact with the element compound or product, poses a threat to human health.

H.B. 58, 20<sup>th</sup> Leg., 1<sup>st</sup> Sess. (Jan. 13, 1997), p. 2; Appendix at 2.

Porter offered a substitute bill which entirely struck the second clause of the definition, leaving only the first clause (which is the text of

the statute as enacted). H.B. 58, 20<sup>th</sup> Leg., 1<sup>st</sup> Sess. (Feb. 17, 1997), pp. 3-4; Appendix at 5-6. No member of the legislature sought to have the language restored.

There is only one reference to the language defining a "product" in the legislative history. During the February 21, 1997 meeting of the House Judiciary Committee, Rep. Porter explained:

REPRESENTATIVE PORTER believed one of the biggest exceptions was Section 5(2)(b)(1)(E), a defective product. There had been much testimony over the last four years about 'some of the more salient products that have come to light after an eight-year period.' He cited Thalidomide as an example. Although one could argue for a statute of repose in those cases, an accommodation and compromise existed in this legislation. 'We're saying, "Okay, we're not going to fight that battle today,"' he said.

Minutes, H. Jud. Hearing on H.B. 58, 20<sup>th</sup> Leg., 1<sup>st</sup> Sess. (Feb. 21, 1997), No. 846; Appendix at 16.

The plaintiffs insist that this language supports broadly construing the term "product." AOB at 32. Not so. A wide variety of things *do* qualify as "products" as that term is defined by the legislature. In that sense, Rep. Porter was correct to observe that the products exception was "one of the biggest exceptions" to the statute of repose.

But that is not the same thing as giving a broad construction to statutory language defining "product." Since the Alaska statute of repose is a remedial statute, exceptions must be *narrowly* construed. *Intl. Ass'n of*



*Firefighters*, 146 Wn. 2d at 34; *Whitesides*, 16 P.3d at 732. The only revision the legislature made to the exception narrowed the scope of the term "product." The only example Rep. Porter lists as falling within the scope of the exception is the pharmaceutical Thalidomide, which – unlike GE's turbines – plainly was capable of delivery as an assembled whole and introduced into trade or commerce by its manufacturer.

**3) The Trial Court Correctly Concluded That GE Turbines are an Improvement to Real Property, Not a Product**

The trial court correctly concluded that GE's turbines constituted an improvement to real property rather than a product. RP 3/25/2015, pp. 49:22-50:4.

Washington law defines an improvement to real property as anything built into property to enhance its value for a particular purpose. *Yakima Fruit & Cold Storage Co. v. Central Heating & Plumbing Co.*, 81 Wn.2d 528, 531, 503 P.2d 108 (1972). It is not required that the machinery be permanently built into the structure:

If a building be erected for a definite purpose, or to enhance its value for occupation, whatever is built into it to further those objects becomes a part of it, even though there be no permanent fastening such as would cause permanent injury if removed.

*Wade v. Donau Brewing Co.*, 10 Wn. 284, 289, 38 P. 1009 (1894); *see also K&L Distrib., Inc. v. Kelly Elec., Inc.*, 908 P.2d 429 (Alaska 1995)

(whether industrial lighting and circuit breakers were "fixtures" depended on "the manner in which the attachment is made, the adaptability of the thing attached to the use to which the realty is applied, and the intention of the one making the attachment").

Washington courts have held that an escalator system, a building refrigeration system and brewing machinery are all improvements to real property. *Highsmith v. J. C. Penney & Co.*, 39 Wn. App. 57, 63, 691 P.2d 976 (1984); *Yakima Fruit*, 81 Wn.2d at 531-32; *Wade*, 10 Wn. at 289-290.

*Harder v. ACandS*, 179 F.3d 609 (8<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1999) involved a worker who allegedly contracted mesothelioma as a result of asbestos exposure and sued GE, among others, alleging that he had been exposed to asbestos from thermal insulation blankets sometimes used in GE turbines. The court noted that the Iowa Supreme Court had defined an "improvement" as "a permanent addition to or betterment of real property that enhances its capital value and that involves the expenditure of labor or money and is designed to make the real property more useful or valuable." *Id.* at 612. The court therefore held that the turbines were improvements to real property within the meaning of the statute of repose. *Id.*

Courts throughout the country have frequently applied similar definitions to hold that electric generators manufactured by GE and others are improvements to real estate for purposes of applying statutes of repose.

*E.g.*, *Johnson v. Allis-Chalmers Corp. Prod. Liab. Trust*, 11 F.Supp.3d 1119, 1138 (D. Wyo. 2014); *McSweeney v. AC&S, Inc.*, -- F.Supp.3d --, 2014 WL 4628030, \*3-5 (C.D. Ill. 2014); *Reed v. American Steel and Wire Corp.*, Civ. Action No. CV10-1540-KA (Ga. Super. Ct., 2012)(CP 2674, 2675-80); *Rabatin v. Allied Glove Corp.*, 24 A.3d 388, 392-94 (Pa. Super. Ct. 2011); *Daniels v. F. B. Wright Co. of Pittsburgh*, 2010 WL 9095455, \*1 (Pa. Com. Pl. 2010); *Sever v. Westinghouse Elec. Corp.*, Case No. A-3156-88T2 (N.J. Super. Ct. (App. Div.) 1990) (CP 2657, 2665-66).

Many courts have held that similar types of heavy industrial machinery are improvements to real property for purposes of applying statutes of repose, typically considering factors such as whether the machinery enhanced the value of the property for its intended use, the level of integration of the item and the item's permanence. *E.g.*, *Associated Elec. & Gas Insur. Serv. v. Bendtec, Inc.*, 2015 WL 3915805 (D. Minn. 2015) (piping connecting turbine to boiler); *Kephart v. ABB, Inc.*, 2015 WL 1245825 (W.D. Pa. 2015) (boiler); *Graver v. Foster Wheeler Corp.*, 96 A.3d 383, 388 (Pa. Super. Ct. 2014) (same); *Barile v. 3M Co., Inc.*, 2013 WL 4727128, \*8-9 (N.J. App. Div. 2013) (same); *Stanley v. Ameren Illinois Co.*, 982 F.Supp. 2d 844, 862-63 (N.D. Ill. 2013) (insulation for boiler); *Toole v. Georgia-Pacific, LLC*, 2011 WL 7938847, \*5-6 (Ga. App. 2011) (insulation for pipes, vessels, boilers,

furnaces and other machinery); *Stone v. United Engineering*, 197 W.Va. 347, 356-58 (W.Va. 1996) (hotline conveyor system); *Adair v. Koppers Co.*, 741 F.2d 111, 114-15 (6<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1984).

The GE turbines were improvements to real property, not products. The turbines were essential to the operation of the two Alaska mills because of their remote locations, and added considerable value to the properties. The turbines were custom designed, affixed to the real estate, and were intended to, and did, remain in place for decades. CP 71. The removal and sale of one of the turbines not long before one of the mills closed does not change this conclusion. *Wade*, 10 Wn. at 289, 38 P. 1009.

**4) The Alleged Use of Insulation, Packing and Gaskets in Connection with the Turbines Does Not Bring Plaintiffs' Claims Within the Scope of the Products Exception**

For the first time on appeal, plaintiffs argue that even if the turbines themselves are improvements to real property, the insulation, packing and gaskets used in conjunction with the turbines were "indisputably products" under the statute. AOB at 33, n.5. Plaintiffs waived their argument by failing to raise it below.<sup>5</sup> R.A.P. 2.5(a).

---

<sup>5</sup> In fact, plaintiffs affirmatively repudiated any such argument: "[T]he product here – and I want to make this 100 percent clear, and I'm sure the record is going to be clear on this because we have a court reporter here

Even if plaintiffs had properly preserved their argument, plaintiffs' argument has been repeatedly rejected. For example, in *Harder* the Eighth Circuit held that because asbestos-containing thermal blankets are "essential components" of turbines and "the turbines were not meant to function without the blankets," the thermal blankets were an improvement to real property. 179 F.3d at 612-13. The court likewise rejected a claim that the insulation ceased to be an improvement when it was detached from the turbine for maintenance:

To revive liability long after it has expired based on the improvement's temporary detachment is contrary to Iowa's 'legislative policy decision to close the door after fifteen years on certain claim arising from improvements to real property.'

*Id.* at 613.

The Seventh Circuit has similarly emphasized in cases involving statutes of repose that "in making an improvement determination, courts must consider the entire system that the defendant helped to design or construct and not merely the component that may have caused the injury." *Garner v. Kinnear Mfg. Co.*, 37 F.3d 263, 267 (7<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1994); *Herriott v. Allied Signal, Inc.*, 998 F.2d 487, 490 (7<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1993) (citing cases). The Sixth Circuit is in agreement, holding that a single conveyor did not lose

---

today – I've said all along, the product at issue with regard to General Electric are its turbines." RP 3/25/2015, pp. 40:24-41:3.

its character as an "improvement" because it could be removed when the conveyor was an integral part of a larger coal handling system which clearly was an improvement. *Adair*, 741 F.2d at 114-15.

In *Stanley*, the district court held that one could not properly view "the 'improvement question at the micro level, focusing on individual components of the construction rather than the larger system." *Stanley*, 982 F.Supp.2d at 863. Rather, "it is the macro-level inquiry that counts for purposes of the statute of repose." *Id.* Because the insulation at issue in *Stanley* was "a practical necessity for the operation of the plant," and "no power plant is designed or constructed without thermal insulation," the court concluded that the pipe insulation was an improvement to real property. *Id.* at 863-64.

*McSweeney* involved similar claims. The plaintiff alleged that he had been injured when asbestos-containing insulation and gaskets were removed from a turbine during maintenance and repair. The court held that the insulation and gaskets retained their character as an improvement to real property: "Essential components of the turbine are improvements to real property even if components are later removed and replaced, and statutory protection arising from the design and initial construction of the turbine extends to injury sustained during overhauls and outages."

*McSweeney*, 2014 WL 4628030, \*5; *accord*, *Daniels*, 2010 WL 9095455;

*Stone*, 197 W.Va. at 357-58.

Plaintiffs rely upon *Dinneen v. A.O. Smith Corp.*, -- A.3d --, 2011 WL 1566835 (Conn. Super. Ct. 2011) and *In re Asbestos Litig.*, -- A.3d --, 2011 WL 5395554 (Del. Super. Ct. 2011), for the proposition that asbestos-containing insulation, packing and gaskets can be separately considered products outside of the statute of repose even when they are components of larger systems that qualify as improvements to real property. AOB at 33, n.5.

Neither holds any such thing. The defendant in *Dinneen* moved for summary judgment on the grounds that plaintiff could not raise a triable dispute of fact on whether he was exposed to asbestos from the defendant's products. No question regarding a statute of repose was involved. *Dinneen*, 2011 WL 1566835, \*1-3. The court in *Asbestos Litigation* held that defendant's "conclusory statement" first mentioning the statute of repose in a supplemental reply brief was insufficient to avoid waiver. *In re Asbestos Litig.*, 2011 WL 5395554, \*3-4.

Plaintiffs point to no evidence that GE manufactured asbestos-containing insulation, packing or gaskets for use in conjunction with its turbines. The only evidence in the record is that insulation used at the mills was manufactured by Johns-Manville. CP 1023. Because the GE turbines *had* to have some form of insulation in order to work properly

without being a health hazard, the components are part of an improvement to real property – the turbines – as a matter of law. They do not lose their character as improvements even if they were at times removed as part of maintenance or repair.<sup>6</sup>

**d. The Exception for Gross Negligence Does Not Preserve Plaintiffs' Claims**

Finally, plaintiffs argue that their claims against GE are preserved by the exception for gross negligence. Alaska Stat. § 09.10.055(b)(1)(B). Plaintiffs are mistaken.

Plaintiffs never argued below that their claims against GE could be salvaged by the exception for gross negligence; their briefing and argument on that exception was directed solely against KPC. Arguments not raised below are waived on appeal. RAP 2.5(a).<sup>7</sup>

Plaintiffs waive the argument a second time in their Opening Brief. Plaintiffs suggest (in a single sentence) that GE supposedly knew by the

---

<sup>6</sup> Plaintiffs repeatedly make the conclusory assertion in their brief that affirming the trial court would amount to holding that the Alaska statute of repose abolished asbestos claims in Alaska. AOB at 1, 9, 13-15, 42. Arguments which are not developed in the briefs, without argument or authority to support them, are waived. *Dickson v. Kates*, 132 Wn. App.724, 733 (2006). Although the statute's exception for products does not preserve the plaintiffs' claims against GE, it would preserve the vast majority of claims in typical asbestos litigation.

<sup>7</sup> The trial court's statement cited by the plaintiffs in their Opening Brief related only to plaintiffs' claims of gross negligence against KPC. AOB at 35; RP 3/25/2015, pp. 49:14-15.



1950s of the alleged hazards of asbestos, but they cite no evidence from the record in support of their conclusory claim. Nor do they cite any authority holding that distributing asbestos-containing products purportedly without a warning constitutes *gross negligence*. Arguments which are not developed in the briefs, without argument or authority to support them, are waived. *Dickson*, 132 Wn. App. at 733, n.10.

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